



2025-2029

Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy



2025-2029 COMPREHENSIVE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

Michiana Area Council of Governments

227 W. Jefferson Blvd. County-City Building, Room 1120 South Bend, IN 46601

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

STEERING COMMITTEE

Name	Title & Organization	Representation
Suzanne Weirick	Vice-President, Board of Elkhart County Commissioners	Local Government
Carl Baxmeyer	President, Board of St. Joseph County Commissioners	Local Government
Phil Jenkins	Mayor, City of Nappanee	Local Government
David Wood	Mayor, City of Mishawaka	Local Government
Kathy Groninger	Vice-President, Kosciusko County Council	Local Government
Greg Hildebrand	President & CEO, Marshall County EDC	LEDO
Chris Stager	President & CEO, EDC of Elkhart County	LEDO
Alyson Herzig	Director of Economic Development, South Bend Regional Chamber	LEDO
Bethany Hartley	President & CEO, South Bend-Elkhart Regional Partnership	Economic Specialist
Levon Johnson	President & CEO, Greater Elkhart Chamber	Economic Specialist
Terry O'Brien	St. Joseph County Economic Development	Economic Specialist
John DeSalle	Chair, Northern Indiana RDA / Executive Engineer-in-Residence iNDustry Labs, University of Notre Dame	Higher Education
Dallas Bergl	Vice Chair, Northern Indiana RDA / President & CEO, Inova Federal Credit Union	Private Sector
Kristin Pruitt	Secretary-Treasurer, Northern Indiana RDA / President, Lake City Bank	Private Sector
Gary Neidig	President, ITAMCO	Private Sector
Scott Ford	Associate Vice President for Economic Development & Executive Director iNDustry Labs, University of Notre Dame	Higher Education
Jamie Brazeau	Business Development Manager, ChoiceLight	Broadband
Alan Tio	Vice President of Business Development, South Bend International Airport	Transportation
Amy Hill	General Manager & CEO, South Bend Public Transportation Corporation (Transpo)	Transportation
David Behr	Regional Director, Indiana Economic Development Corporation	State Economic Development
Ray Caldwell	Community Foundation of Elkhart County	Non-Profit
Linda Yoder	Director, Marshall County Community Foundation	Non-Profit
Stephanie Overbey	CEO, Kosciusko County Community Foundation	Non-Profit
Aaron Perri	Vice President, Community Impact, Community Foundation of St. Joseph County	Non-Profit



MACOG POLICY BOARD APPROVAL

RESOLUTION NO. 13-25 A RESOLUTION ENDORSING THE 2025-2029 COMPREHENSIVE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

- WHEREAS, the Economic Development Administration requires the development of regional Comprehensive Economic Development Strategies and,
- WHEREAS, the Michiana Area Council of Governments (MACOG), an officially designated Economic Development District by the United States Economic Development Administration (EDA), has cooperated with local government units, public officials, and implementing agencies, and coordinated with the private-sector, chambers of commerce, and post-secondary education to the best of its ability in developing the 2025-2029 Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy and,
- WHEREAS, MACOG has used local input and obtained public input from groups, organizations, and individuals throughout the MACOG region.
- BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED, that the Michiana Area Council of Governments hereby adopts the 2025-2029 Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy and the MACOG Policy Board finds that the 2025-2029 Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy meets the requirements set forth by the EDA in Title 13 of the Code of Federal Regulations, Chapter III, Part 303.7 and is hereby endorsed.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Resolution has been adopted on this 9th day of April 2025.

Michiana Area Council of Governments

David Wood, Policy Board Chair

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Our Region	2
As an Economic Development District	2
Partnerships	
Purpose of the Plan	
Background	
CEDS Planning Process	4
Chapter 2: Summary of Economic Conditions	
Economic Trends & Indicators	
Demographic Profile	
Character 2. CWOT An alteria	46
Chapter 3: SWOT Analysis	
Strengths	
Weaknesses	
Opportunities	
Threats	
Chapter 4: Plan of Action	_20
Our Vision	
Goal 1: Thriving and Innovative Economies	23
Goal 2: World-Class Education and Community Partnerships	
Goal 3: High-Quality Hometowns	
Goal 4: Access and Connectivity	
CHAPTER 5: Performance Measures	27
Goal 1: Thriving and Innovative Economies	
Goal 2: World-Class Education and Community Partnerships	
Goal 3: High-Quality Hometowns	
Goal 4: Access and Connectivity	
ADDENDIX A. Community Engagement	38
APPENDIX A: Community Engagement	
Survey Results	
Public Comments	

Chapter 1 Introduction





Our Region

The Michiana Area Council of Governments (MACOG) is a council of governments that serves as a regional forum to our local governments to study and resolve interlocal issues on transportation, environment, and development. We serve our local governments to achieve our collective vision to advance the region's economic vitality, quality of life, create diverse and resilient hometowns, and explore ways to attract and retain talented individuals and organizations.

As a council of governments, we provide technical planning services to local governments in our four-county planning region of Elkhart, Kosciusko, Marshall, and St. Joseph Counties. Together, these counties have a population of nearly 600,000 people. Our region is located in northern Indiana and is fortunate to be within 200 miles of major Midwestern cities and amenities in Indianapolis, Chicago, Detroit, and Columbus. We have access to many quality of life amenities such as Lake Michigan beaches, year-round trails, a burgeoning culinary scene, major and minor league professional sports teams, theaters, zoos, and shopping. Additional amenities include the cultural arts, festivals, and sporting events from our local communities and higher education institutions.

As an Economic Development District

To better serve our local governments, MACOG holds many federal and state designations that enable us to act as a liaison and a conduit for our communities to access the many federal and state funding opportunities.

One of the designations MACOG holds is an Economic Development District (EDD), administered by the U.S. Department of Commerce's Economic Development Administration (EDA). MACOG was officially designated as an EDD by EDA in August 2010.

As an EDD, our communities are eligible to receive EDA funds to improve our public infrastructure systems and construct projects that build strong and resilient hometowns. This designation laid the foundation for future regional collaboration and economic planning success.

Partnerships

Each of our four counties has local economic development organizations (LEDOs) that focus on economic development initiatives such as business retention, expansion, and recruitment. These LEDOs include the Economic Development Corporation of Elkhart County, Kosciusko Economic Development Corporation, Marshall County Economic Development Corporation, and the South Bend Regional Chamber.

In 2011, the LEDOs saw a need to better market our region and established the South Bend-Elkhart Regional Partnership. The Regional Partnership has been an integral economic development entity in our region. They focus on a systemic approach to advance the region's economy and unify our regional communities to achieve our collective vision.

As an EDD, we bring together these key private and public sector stakeholders to create a coordinated effort to advance the region's economy to be diverse, innovative, and resilient. One of the ways we accomplish this is by holding regional economic development summits. Attendees have the opportunity to network and share best practices. Being an EDD has served as a foundation for regional collaboration that has built lasting partnerships with our federal, state, and local organizations, and instilled cooperative regional planning.

Purpose of the Plan

The purpose of the Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) is to be a roadmap to guide the region's economic development initiatives over five years. The CEDS guides us in prioritizing a regional list of projects and ensuring they align with the CEDS goals and EDA's investment priorities. The CEDS also enables MACOG to retain its EDD designation.

The CEDS allows us to examine our economic conditions, identify opportunities and areas that need improving, create a "plan of action," and establish a framework to measure our progress.





Background

A major milestone in regional collaboration came during the development of the 2015-2019 CEDS. Around the same time, the Indiana Economic Development Corporation (IEDC) launched the Regional Cities Initiative, a program designed to encourage transformative economic development projects that would make Indiana's regions more competitive and attractive to businesses and talent.

Rather than duplicating efforts, MACOG worked closely with the Regional Partnership, LEDOs, and community stakeholders to align the CEDS with the Regional Cities Initiative. This collaboration led to the formation of the Regional Cities of Northern Indiana plan and the Northern Indiana Regional Development Authority (RDA). The CEDS served as the foundation for the Regional Cities plan, ensuring a coordinated approach to regional economic growth.

In 2016, Northern Indiana was selected as one of three regions to receive \$42 million from the IEDC's Regional Cities Initiative. The Regional Partnership was responsible for administering the grant and overseeing the implementation of key projects.

Following the success of these planning efforts, community leaders recognized the need to look beyond the Regional Cities Initiative and focus on long-term economic sustainability. This led to the creation of the Regional Economic Development Strategy Plan (REDS) and the 2020-2024 CEDS, developed in collaboration between the RDA, Regional Partnership, and MACOG.

In 2021, our region was selected to receive \$50 million from the IEDC's READI program. Additionally, the region was selected to receive \$42.5 million from the IEDC's READI 2.0 program. The regional collaboration and economic planning have been critical foundational elements for these investments.

As the 2020-2024 CEDS nears completion, it is time to update the plan to reflect current economic conditions, new challenges, and emerging opportunities for the region.

CEDS Planning Process

MACOG kicked off the process in 2024 to update our CEDS to reflect our economic conditions and priorities through the next five years (2025-2029). A Steering Committee was first organized to guide and oversee the development of the CEDS. The Steering Committee consisted of LEDOs, the South Bend-Elkhart Regional Partnership, local government officials, private sector business owners, economic specialists, Community Foundations, education institutions, broadband, and transportation representatives.

MACOG held bi-monthly Committee meetings that first refined our vision and goals, and analyzed our strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats (SWOT). This analysis is summarized in Chapter 3. The Steering Committee next reviewed and refined the objectives as related to our regional goals. This was accomplished through a series of exercises that identified future priorities. Lastly, the Committee identified the performance measures to monitor the progress of implementation, summarized in Chapter 5. Public participation was offered throughout the development of the updated CEDS. This included presenting at our LEDOs' Board of Directors and conducting a stakeholder survey during the presentations. Representation at these meetings included local government officials, the private sector, and economic specialists. Board members were asked to indicate the objectives that are a top priority for the region and to rank the goals.

Additionally, from March 5th to April 4th, MACOG held a 30-day public comment period. The public had the opportunity to review and share their comments on the draft CEDS. During the public comment period, MACOG offered two public open houses; the first was on March 24th at the Greater Elkhart Chamber's office, and the second was on April 2nd at the St. Joseph County Public Library Community Learning Center in the Beutter Kernan Hall. The public was asked to indicate the objectives that was most important for the success of our region. This question was paired with the Board of Directors' vote on the objectives they saw as a top priority. The combined results from the survey and the Open Houses showed the following objectives from each of the goals as top priorities for our region. See Appendix A for a summary of the community engagement.

- Goal 1-Objective 2: Support and Develop Existing Businesses
- Goal 1-Objective 4: Attract and Retain Talent
- Goal 2-Objective 4: Enhance K-12 Education
- Goal 3-Objective 1: Develop Diverse and Attainable Housing
- Goal 4-Objective 1: Enhance Broadband Access



CHAPTER 2 Summary of Economic Conditions





Economic Trends & Indicators

Economic development can best be understood as activities, programs, or policies that seek to improve the economic well-being and quality of life of a community and its residents. In the last decade, economic development has added a priority to create places that attract people, in addition to businesses, by building quality of life amenities. The expectation is attracting populations of employees will attract businesses as well. This is in addition to other economic development priorities such as job growth, business attraction, business retention, and support for entrepreneurs.

This section summarizes key economic trends and indicators in the MACOG region. This section helped inform the identification of the region's strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats outlined in Chapter 3, the goals of this plan in Chapter 4, and the performance metrics in Chapter 5.

Gross Domestic Product

Gross Domestic Product (GDP) represents the total value of the goods and services produced in the United States. According to the Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA), between 2022 and 2023, Elkhart County significantly decreased at -9.3 percent. The durable goods manufacturing industry was the leading contributor to the decline. Kosciusko, Marshall, and St. Joseph Counties increased at 2.2 percent, 2.2 percent, and 1.5 percent, respectively.

Employment

Over the last decade, Elkhart County has led in employment compared to Kosciusko, Marshall, and St. Joseph Counties and had significant growth from 2020 to 2021 with a 10 percent increase and a three percent increase to 2022. However, in 2023, Elkhart County had a seven percent decrease. See **Figure 2-1**. Kosciusko County had a 0.9 percent loss of employment between 2020 to 2021, whereas Marshall County had a three percent increase and St. Joseph County had a 0.7 percent increase. All three of these counties had an increase of employment in 2022 with Kosciusko County at 1.5 percent, Marshall County at 3.5 percent, and St. Joseph County at 2.2 percent. In 2023, Kosciusko County saw a 0.7 percent increase in employment, Marshall County had 2.5 percent increase, and St. Joseph County had 2.3 percent increase.



The manufacturing industry continues to be the leading industry sector in the MACOG region with a third of jobs in Elkhart and Kosciusko Counties, respectively, and 40 percent of jobs in Marshall County. The manufacturing industry is the second highest industry in St. Joseph County at 16.8 percent, with the educational services, health care, and social assistance industry as the leading industry at 29 percent. This is higher than the state (23 percent) and the nation (23 percent). See **Figure 2-2** for the breakdown of employment by industries.



Figure 2-1: Annual Employment Change

Distress

EDA has a requisite for eligible grant applicants to demonstrate how the project's service area meets one of three distress criteria. One criterion is an unemployment rate that is one percent greater than the national average unemployment rate for the most recent 24-month period. The second criterion is the area's per capita personal income must be below 80 percent of the national average. The third criterion is a special need determined by EDA. Projects typically seek to achieve either of the first two criteria.

The unemployment rates in the region have increased since 2020, with St. Joseph County having the highest rate (4.5) compared to the three other counties (Elkhart County at 4, Kosciusko County at 4.2, and Marshall County at 3.7) and the nation at 4.1, see **Figure 2-3**.



2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics

According to the Bureau of Economic Analysis, the 2023 average per capita personal income for the nation is \$69,810, meaning the 80 percent threshold is \$55,848. In the MACOG region, only Marshall County falls below the 80 percent threshold at \$53,579, see **Figure 2-4**.



Figure 2-4: Per Capita Personal Income

•

Demographic Profile *Population*

The combined population in 2020 in the MACOG region was 606,294, with St. Joseph County representing the highest population at 45 percent, and Elkhart County represents 34 percent of the region's population. See **Figure 2-5** for the population distribution for the four counties. According to projection data estimated by Woods and Poole, the region is projected to grow to 663,286 people by 2050, see **Figure 2-6** for the estimated population projections in the four counties.





Race & Ethnicity

According to the U.S. Census Bureau ACS 5-year estimates for 2023, approximately 26 percent of the MACOG region identifies with an ethnic or racial community. Approximately 7.3 percent of the region's population is Black or African American, 1.8 percent is Asian, and 3.6 percent is Multiracial. Additionally, 13.4 percent is Hispanic or Latino.

Spanish is the main non-English language spoken in the region, with the area having a higher percentage of Spanish-speakers, at 8 percent, as compared to 5 percent of Indiana's population. Of the population that speaks Spanish, fewer than half speak English less than very well. An additional 5.2% of the MACOG region population speaks neither Spanish nor English, only slightly more than the state as a whole where 4.5% of the population speaks neither Spanish nor English. This is likely due to the number of people who speak German or Other West Germanic Languages. This include Pennsylvania Dutch, which is commonly spoken in portions of the region with a higher proportion of Amish.

Median Age

The median age of an area can be a key indicator of possible economic productivity. Typically, communities and regions with a large working age population have more economic productivity. As the median age increases, the demand and types of housing and daily services will also shift. Since 2010, the median age for the four counties has been increasing. Marshall County and Kosciusko County have older median ages increasing from 38.4 and 37.7 in 2010 to 40.2 and 39 in 2020 and then to 39.6 and 39 in 2023, respectively. While Elkhart County and St. Joseph County have younger median ages and remained around the same median ages during the same time period. Elkhart County's median age increased from 34.9 in 2010 to 35.7 in 2020 and remained at 35.5 in 2023. St. Joseph County's median age in 2010 was 36.2, in 2020 was 36.8, and remained in 2023 at 36.7. See Figure 2-7 for the 2023 median ages.



Source: 2023 U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-Year Estimates

Educational Attainment

The educational attainment in the MACOG region remains lower than the state with 34 percent receiving a post-secondary degree in 2023. The state's average post-secondary attainment is 38 percent in 2023. The educational attainment with the highest percentage in the region is attaining a high school diploma or equivalent. See **Figure 2-8** for the breakdown of the Educational Attainment in the MACOG region in 2023. If we were to examine the population 25 years and over in each of the four counties, averages to be an approximate 80/20 percent split between those with a high school diploma and a Bachelor's Degree or higher, respectively. If we were to examine the population between



Figure 2-8: Regional Educational Attainment Level

11 Chapter 2: Summary of Economic Conditions

18 years and 24 years in the four counties, the highest percentage of attainment in Elkhart, Kosciusko, and Marshall Counties is a high school diploma or equivalent. However, in St. Joseph County, the highest percentage of attainment is Some College or Associates Degree. The industries in the region need a labor force of varying skills and training. Many require higher education skills while some have programs that begin training in high school.

Housing

The jobs-to-housing ratio gauges the distribution of jobs and housing across a geographic area to determine if a community has a higher, lower, or equal balance. The purpose is to understand whether a community has a sufficient supply of housing for its workforce, or if there's a mismatch between where people live and where they work.

A ratio between 1.0 and 1.5 indicates a community has approximately an equal balance of jobs and housing. A ratio of less than 1.0 indicates a community has more housing than jobs, whereas a ratio greater than 1.5 indicates a community has more jobs than housing.

The jobs-to-housing ratio in 2023 varies across the four counties in the MACOG region. Elkhart County has the highest ratio at 1.83 with 131,337 jobs to 71,760 of homes. This indicates Elkhart has more jobs than housing. Kosciusko, Marshall, and St. Joseph Counties average around a balanced ratio of jobs to housing with 1.17, 1.10, and 1.13 respectively. **Figure 2-9** displays the balance between jobs and housing.



Figure 2-9: Jobs to Housing Ratio

Source: 2023 ACS 5-Yr Estimates, Occupied Housing Units

Jobs: STATSIndiana, Annual Census of Employment and Wages (CEW), Jobs 2023

A similar ratio a community should be mindful of is the balance of jobs and the labor force (the working age population of 16 years and older - those employed and unemployed). A ratio closer to 1.0 indicates an equal balance of jobs and labor force. In the MACOG region, in 2023, Elkhart County had a ratio of 1.19, with more jobs than those in the labor force. Kosciusko, Marshall, and St. Joseph Counties have ratios below 1.0 at 0.91, 0.82, and 0.91, respectively. **Figure 2-10** displays the balance between jobs and the labor force.



Figure 2-10: Jobs to Labor Force Ratio

Residential Building Permits

In 2023, approximately 1,001 residential building permits were filed in the MACOG region. **Figure 2-11** displays the trend of filed permits in each of the four counties. In 2023, St. Joseph County had the highest recorded filed residential building permits with 291 permits, of which 233 permits were for the construction of single-family homes, 40 permits were for two-unit homes, and 18 permits were for five or more unit homes. Elkhart County had the second highest recorded filed residential building permits with 287 permits, of which 279 permits were for the construction of single-family homes, and the remaining eight permits were for three and four-unit homes.



Source: STATSIndiana, U.S. Census Bureau

Housing Affordability

Housing affordability is crucial when considering the percentage of household income spent on housing costs. Households are considered cost-burdened when they spend more than 30 percent of their income to pay their mortgage or rent and utilities. If a household is cost-burdened, it may be more difficult to afford daily necessities such as groceries, clothing, transportation, and medical care.

Figure 2-12 displays the breakdown of the housing cost-burden in the MACOG region. St. Joseph and Elkhart Counties had the highest percentage, 25 percent, of the population who pay more than 30 percent of their incomes on housing. Approximately 21 percent



Figure 2-12: Housing Affordability

of Kosciusko County's population and 20 percent of Marshall County's population are considered cost burdened. Stakeholders engaged during this planning process and in the recently completed MACOG Regional Housing Study, identified the disparities for firsttime homebuyer or those needing a larger-size home in the middle home value market as a major barrier to attract and retain families and individuals.

CHAPTER 3 SWOT Analysis



3

SWOT Analysis

The MACOG region presents a dynamic mix of assets and challenges that shape its economic landscape. This SWOT analysis was identified by the Steering Committee and from the stakeholder engagement, and evaluates the region's strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats. It provides insights into current conditions, forming a foundation for strategic economic development over the next five years.



Strengths

The MACOG region benefits from strategic geographic positioning, robust economic performance, and diverse community assets that support growth and resilience. Its location within the Great Lakes mega-region offers proximity to major metropolitan hubs such as Chicago, Indianapolis, Detroit, and Columbus, enhancing connectivity and market access. The region boasts quality-of-life amenities, strong higher education institutions, and thriving local economies contributing to its economic vitality.

Key Strengths:

- Increased support for entrepreneurship and innovation
- **Continued effort to diversify our industry sectors**, including manufacturing, healthcare, and education
- **Increased employment growth**, supported by investments from new companies like AWS and GM-Samsung
- **Strategic location** near major metro areas with strong transportation connectivity and attraction of new businesses
- Strong regional collaboration and public-private partnerships, to address key regional barriers and capitalize on funding opportunities i.e. READI
- **Higher education institutions** fostering workforce development initiatives and CTE and dual-credit attainment during high school
- **Quality of life amenities**, including natural resources, trails, arts, and entertainment, and recognition these amenities support economic development
- Infrastructure investments, such as broadband, expansion of public utility services, and multi-modal transportation improvements



Weaknesses

Despite its strengths, the region faces barriers to sustaining economic growth. Housing shortages and affordability challenges impact workforce attraction and retention, as does the slower population growth and advancement of workers' skill levels. Gaps in broadband, trails, and transportation networks hinder economic mobility.

Key Weaknesses:

- Gaps in broadband access, particularly in rural areas
- Housing affordability challenges and lack of diverse housing options
- Older housing stock is in need of renovation or upgrading
- Local communities' zoning ordinances need to be amended to support adding a mix of housing types
- Need a better partnership with financial institutions
- Slow population growth, limiting workforce expansion
- Slower advancement of workers from repetitive low skill jobs to higher skilled jobs
- Below-average educational attainment compared to peer regions
- Gaps in trail and transit networks
- **Better control of growth** to ensure infrastructure and services can adequately serve current and future users







Opportunities

The MACOG region has numerous opportunities to leverage its existing assets and address current challenges. Regional planning momentum, workforce development programs, and innovation partnerships can drive economic growth. Expanding broadband, improving housing availability, and enhancing livability through placemaking and connectivity projects will further strengthen the region's competitiveness.

Key Opportunities:

- Leverage regional planning efforts to support long-term growth and resilience
- Enhance innovation ecosystems through higher education partnerships
- Influx of higher paying jobs and increase of private sector investments in local communities to add quality of life amenities
- Continue to market our regional assets and workforce opportunities
- **Expand workforce development** by strengthening K-12 career pathways and talent retention programs
- Improve access to trade schools and career advancement programs
- Invest in broadband infrastructure to support businesses and communities
- Develop walkable, mixed-use communities to attract and retain talent
- Expand trails, parks, and transit to improve connectivity
- Revitalize brownfields and foster industry cluster growth
- Align housing strategies with workforce needs and economic expansion





Threats

The region faces several threats, such as population stagnation, talent out-migration, and housing shortages, which pose long-term risks. Reliance on the manufacturing sector without sufficient diversification increases vulnerability to economic downturns. Workforce challenges—including an aging labor force and gaps in training for emerging industries—add further pressure. The high cost needed to build and maintain our infrastructure systems constrains development opportunities. Our natural resources continue to be an attractive asset and amenity but are threatened by development pressures that may lose their economic development appeal.

Key Threats:

- **Economic vulnerability** due to high reliance on a single manufacturing sector, with a need for further diversification into emerging industries
- Slow population growth and talent out-migration
- Aging workforce and gaps in the talent pipeline
- Housing shortages and affordability challenges
- High cost to build and maintenance of the infrastructure service lines and systems
- Competition from other regions with more desirable amenities and attractions
- Preservation of our natural resources
- Environmental hazards, including brownfield contamination
- Blight and disinvestment impacting community development
- Federal and state funding assistance may no longer be available



CHAPTER 4 Plan of Action



OUR VISION "Northern Indiana is a growing and interconnected region that serves and provides access to a robust and dynamic economy."



We will be recognized by our four goals.



A thriving economy that fosters innovation, supports businesses, and creates highquality jobs for all.



A world-class education system that empowers every individual with the skills and knowledge to succeed.





High-quality hometowns that offer diverse housing, vibrant downtowns, and a strong sense of community for all residents.



Strong connections ensure access to opportunity through a robust transportation network, reliable technology, and a region that is seamlessly connected to the world.



Goal Thriving & Innovative Economies



Foster a thriving and innovative regional economy characterized by robust business growth, strong entrepreneurial ecosystem, talent attraction and retention, and regional partnerships.

- Objective 1: Support and Develop Existing Businesses: Foster a business-friendly environment and provide access to resources to assist with expansion, modernization, and workforce training.
- **Objective 2: Attract and Grow Diverse Businesses:** Target high-growth industries and industries of the future, i.e. advanced manufacturing, robotics, biotechnology, and technology.
- **Objective 3: Champion Entrepreneurship:** Promote a culture of innovation by supporting the development of incubators, accelerators, and co-working spaces that foster entrepreneurial activity.
- **Objective 4: Attract and Retain Talent:** Market the region's career development opportunities and the quality of life amenities, i.e. access to outdoor recreation, arts and culture, and destinations.
- **Objective 5: Promote Regional Economic Growth:** Foster regional collaboration and encourage partnerships between businesses, government agencies, educational institutions, and non-profit organizations.

Goal World-Class Education & Community Partnerships



Cultivate a highly skilled and competitive workforce by fostering strong partnerships between education and industries, expanding access to education and training opportunities at all levels, and prioritizing early childhood learning.

- Objective 1: Align Workforce Development Programs: Collaborate with educational institutions to align workforce development programs with the needs of emerging industries to provide opportunities to earn industry-recognized credentials and provide access to high-quality training and up-skilling opportunities for new and existing workers.
- Objective 2: Promote Work-Based Learning Programs: Expand robust Career and Technical Education (CTE) pathways and work-based learning programs to provide students with real-world skills and industry connections, especially in high-demand industries such as advanced manufacturing, healthcare, information technology, and skilled trades.
- Objective 3: Foster Community Partnerships: Encourage and support strong partnerships between businesses and schools to provide mentorship and internship opportunities, curriculum development, and equip students with skills and knowledge to succeed.
 - **Objective 4: Enhance K-12 Education:** Promote high-quality education (including STEM) at all levels to cultivate a future-ready workforce while closing achievement gaps and ensuring all students graduate college- and career-ready.
- Objective 5: Invest in Early Childhood Education: Recognize that high-quality early childhood education and childcare are essential for both child development and the economic well-being of families and employers.



Goal High-Quality Hometowns



Create vibrant and thriving communities throughout the region that offer a high quality of life for all residents by developing diverse and attainable housing options, revitalizing downtowns, enhancing community amenities, and supporting the well-being of all residents.

- **Objective 1: Develop Diverse and Attainable Housing:** Support the development of a diverse range of housing options for families and individuals at all income levels.
- **Objective 2: Promote Infill Development:** Encourage mixed-use redevelopment of vacant and underutilized properties within existing communities.
- Objective 3: Revitalize Downtown and Main Streets: Encourage growth in locally-owned businesses, create vibrant public spaces, and enhance the visual appeal of downtowns through streetscape improvements, facade upgrades, and public art.
- Objective 4: Enhance Community Amenities: Encourage investing and supporting parks and recreation, regional trail development, arts and culture, social activities and events, and improve community infrastructure.
- Objective 5: Promote Resident Well-Being: Support community organizations that provide social services, mental health support, and youth programs, as well as those that improve access to medical services, particularly in rural and underserved areas of the region.

Goal Access & Connectivity



Create a region that is seamlessly connected and accessible by expanding access to high-speed internet, improving transportation infrastructure, enhancing regional connectivity, preparing for the future of transportation, and fostering a strong sense of community.

- Objective 1: Enhance Broadband Access: Work to bridge the digital divide by providing affordable, high-speed internet and digital literacy training, especially in low-income and/or rural households.
- Objective 2: Improve Transportation Connectivity: Promote high-quality public transit and active transportation networks and programs that enhance accessibility to key destinations, including education and employment opportunities, medical services, and regional amenities.
- Objective 3: Broaden the Access to National and Global Markets: Support investment in expanded and improved rail, freight, and air services to enhance connectivity to major markets.
- Objective 4: Prepare for the Future of Transportation: Support the development of a robust network of electric vehicle (EV) charging stations and explore the deployment and integration of autonomous vehicle technology into the transportation system.
- Objective 5: Enhance Social Connectivity: Create spaces and routes that encourage community interactions and promote a sense of belonging to the community.



Chapter 5 Performance Measures



Performance measures allow for benchmarking progress towards the CEDS's vision and goals. MACOG will continue to monitor progress on each goal and the plan of action through annual reporting and other tools. The performance measures demonstrate some of the data collected to support the goals. Some data is collected in collaboration with the South Bend—Elkhart Regional Partnership, which assists the local economic development organizations with various local and regional economic efforts.

The following datasets are key performance indicators to track the implementation of the CEDS. Other data indicators and sources may be incorporated to accurately reflect our region's priorities and needs.

Goal 1: Thriving & Innovative Economies

Our economic development professionals and industry leaders recognize that to endure another economic recession, we must diversify our industry sectors to offer higher paying jobs, create a culture that fosters innovation, and continue to support our entrepreneurs and local business grow and thrive.

Population Growth & Net Migration

It is essential to keep growing our population for a strong economy. This leads to a larger labor force, more opportunities in the consumer market, and increased tax revenue for local governments.

Population Growth - Percent Change from 2010 to 2020

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, Decennial Census



Net Migration Rate

The net migration rate indicates how many people arrive minus those who leave per 1,000 people annually. A positive rate means more arrivals than departures, while a negative rate indicates more departures than arrivals.

Source: 2021-2022 Income Tax Returns



Per Capita Personal Income

Per capita personal income (PCPI) serves as a key measurement of the stability and wealth within a region. It evaluates the standard of living and quality of life of the region to determine the region's level of prosperity.

Source: 2023 PCPI, Bureau of Economic Analysis



Labor Force Participation Rate

The labor force participation rate refers to the percentage of working-age individuals who are either employed or actively seeking employment. This metric is a crucial indicator of the economy's overall strength and the prevailing labor market conditions. Source: 2023 U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-Year Estimates

64% **United States 65.1% 64.7% 62.4% 63.2% 64.1%** Elkhart County Kosciusko County Marshall County St. Joseph County MACOG

Business Growth

Private businesses are major employment providers and drivers in the local economy. A higher number of private businesses typically indicates a diverse economy, which can stabilize economic fluctuations.

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2023 Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (QCEW)

Average Number of Establishments - Percent Change from 2019 to 2023



8.1[%] **7.5**[%]







2025-2029 • Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy



Population with a Bachelor's Degree or Higher Education Per Capita Over 25

Elkhart County Kosciusko County Marshall County St. Joseph County

24.6[%] **20.4**[%] **32.6**[%]

Source: 2023 U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-Year Estimates

19.7%

Chapter 5: Performance Measures **30**

26.3[%]

MACOG

Early Childhood Education

Measuring the enrollment and availability of early childhood education and childcare services acknowledges their vital role in child development and in supporting the economic health of families and employers.

Source: 2023 U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-Year Estimates

Percent Population Age 3 to 4 Enrolled in School

19.8[%] **32**[%] **35.5**[%] **42.3**[%] Elkhart County Kosciusko County Marshall County St. Joseph County



Early Learning Access Index

The Early Learning Access Index (developed by Early Learning Indiana) summarizes a statistical analysis of families' abilities to access high-quality care across Indiana. Scaled from 0 to 100, it combines four elements into one composite score: Capacity, Quality, Affordability, and Choice. Source: 2024 Early Learning Indiana Report, https://earlylearningin.org/closing-the-gap/county-profiles/#2024countyaccess



Indiana



Career & Technical Education (CTE)

Career and Technical Education (CTE) in Indiana prepares students for high-demand careers. It is an important part of Indiana's education system, connecting students to higher education, industry, and workforce development.

Source: Indiana Commission for Higher Education, https://cte.inters-dwd.com/DataExplorer/#home

Graduating Cohort Students - Percent Change from 2023 to 2024

Regional Total Students **12.1**[%] **50.5**[%] Has Credential Has Dual Credits Work-Based Learning

6,994



53.4[%] Has Placement


•

Registered Apprenticeship

Registered Apprenticeship is a structured talent development strategy that combines on-thejob learning, classroom learning, and mentorship to train individuals to be experts in their field. *Source: FY 2025 RAPIDS, U.S. Department of Labor, https://www.apprenticeship.gov/data-and-statistics*

Registered Apprenticeship - Percent Change from the Previous Year



Workforce Development Programs

Indiana Department of Workforce Development helps adults find employment and training through the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA). Source: Indiana Department of Workforce Development, https://www.in.gov/dwd/performance/wioa-title-i-data/

WIOA Title I Adult Program - Region 2

538 Participants

81[%] Employment Rate 74.4[%] Credential Rate



WIOA Title III Wagner-Peyer Program - Region 2

6,811 Participants



College Preparedness

Preparing our High School Students for their careers is key to cultivating a future-ready workforce.

Source: 2022 Indiana Commission for Higher Education

Percent of High School Graduates that Earned Dual Credits, Other Certificates, or Associate Degrees During High School

68.5 %	72.5 %	78.1 %	62.9 %	67.4 [%]		
Elkhart County	Kosciusko County	Marshall County	St. Joseph County	MACOG		
Percent of High School Graduates Enrolled in College						
41.7 %	44.8 %	49.6 [%]	52.3 %	47.3 %		
Elkhart County	Kosciusko County	Marshall County	St. Joseph County	MACOG		
Percent of High School Graduates Enrolled in a STEM or Health Program at College						
24.2 %	19.4 %	26.4 %	25.5 %	24.3 %		
Elkhart County	Kosciusko County	Marshall County	St. Joseph County	MACOG		

Goal 3: High-Quality Hometowns

The region is dedicated to creating vibrant downtowns, implementing development principles that promote biking and walking, expanding our recreational amenities, and leveraging our natural assets to enhance our communities' quality of life.

Housing Affordability

Housing affordability is crucial when considering the percentage of household income spent on housing costs. Households are considered cost-burdened when they spend more than 30 percent of their income to pay their mortgage or rent and utilities. If a household is costburdened, it may be more difficult to afford daily necessities such as groceries, clothing, transportation, and medical care.

Excessive Housing Costs (Housing Costs 30% or More of Income)

Source: 2023 U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-Year Estimates



Vacant Housing Rate

Vacancy rates measure the percentage of available housing units that are vacant. They are used to assess the health of the real estate market.

Rental Vacancv Rates

Source: 2023 U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-Year Estimates

4.6[%] **7.6**[%] **5.8**[%] 11 1% 5 3% Marshall County St. Joseph County Elkhart County Kosciusko County MACOG **Homeowner Vacancy Rates** Source: 2023 U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-Year Estimates 0.8%**U.8**% 1.2% 0.8% Elkhart County Kosciusko County Marshall County St. Joseph County MACOG

Jobs to Housing Ratio

The jobs-to-housing ratio gauges the distribution of jobs and housing across a geographic area to determine if a community has a higher, lower, or equal balance. The purpose is to understand whether a community has a sufficient supply of housing for its workforce, or if there's a mismatch between where people live and where they work. A ratio between 1.0 and 1.5 indicates a community has approximately an equal balance of jobs and housing. A ratio of less than 1.0 indicates a community has more housing than jobs, whereas a ratio greater than 1.5 indicates a community has more jobs than housing.

Number of Jobs to Housing Units

Source: 2023 ACS 5-Yr Estimates, Occupied Housing Units Jobs: STATSIndiana, Annual Census of Employment and Wages (CEW), Jobs 2023

1.83

1.17 Elkhart County Kosciusko County Marshall County

 $1_1()$



1.35 MACOG

Trail Development and Counts

Trails connect community amenities, including parks, arts and cultural centers, and other community assets.

Percent of the Population within 2 miles and 1 mile a Trail, Walking Path, or Bike Lane

Source: MACOG, 2023



Within 2 Miles

Daily Average Users

Source: MACOG, 2023





54%

891 **Bicyclists**

Access to Healthcare

Healthcare provider ratios to population compare the number of people in a given area to the number of healthcare providers in that area. These ratios can be used to identify areas with shortages of healthcare providers.

Primary Care Physician Ratio

Source: The National Plan and Provider Enumeration System (NPPES) National Provider Identifier (NIP) - 2024



Goal 4: Access & Connectivity Ensuring our businesses and residents have the appropriate access and connectivity to competitive markets, high quality infrastructure systems and technology, and employment are key indicators in attracting and retaining businesses and talented professionals. Our region's quality of life is also impacted by the reliability and efficiency of the transportation network, the accessibility of places, and how people travel to meet their daily needs. Internet & Computer Access Households with Internet Access with an Internet Subscription Source: 2023 U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-Year Estimates 88.4% 86.3% 82.1% 88.3% 87.6% Kosciusko County Marshall County St. Joseph County MACOG Pla.8% 92.2% 89.2% 93.7% 92.5%

Public Transportation

Ridership - Percent Change from 2022 to 2023 Source: National Transit Database & Amtrak Data Sheets

Elkhart

5.6% 8.2% 8.5% Elkhart/Goshen Interurban Trolley South Bend/Mishawaka Transpo Amtrak -0.5% 3.4% 1.6%

South Bend

Elkhart County Kosciusko County Marshall County St. Joseph County

MACOG

Chapter 5: Performance Measures **36**

MACOG



Number of Jobs Accessible by Transit

Source: 2022 LEHD Origin-Destination Employment Statistics (LODES)

33,500 Elkhart/Goshen Interurban Trolley **75,800** South Bend/Mishawaka Transpo

Commute to Work

Percentage of Population Who Commute By Walking, Biking, or Public Transit Source: 2023 U.S. Census Bureau, ACS 5-Year Estimates

3.7%
Elkhart County3.3%
Kosciusko County5%
Marshall County5.2%
St. Joseph County4.4%
MACOGSouth Bend International Airport

Percent Change from 2022 to 2023 Source: 2023 South Bend International Airport Annual Report

12.8[%] Passengers



Alternative Fueling Stations

Source: US Department of Energy - Alternative Fueling Station Finder - March 2025

Z Biodiesel

Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) 59 Electric **17** Ethanol (E85)



37 Chapter 5: Performance Measures

APPENDIX A Community Engagement





Community Engagement

The CEDS will serve as a roadmap to guide the region's economic development initiatives over five years. The CEDS guides us in prioritizing a regional list of projects and ensuring they align with the CEDS goals and EDA's investment priorities. Community engagement was essential for guiding the development of the CEDS. The CEDS was developed with the input of the Steering Committee, key stakeholders, and residents. The input received created the vision and the plan of action and established top priorities for the success of our region.

Community engagement was offered throughout the development of the CEDS. The first round of engagement was seeking input from our LEDOs' Board of Directors from January through March 2025. Representation at these meetings included local government officials, the private sector, and economic specialists who are key stakeholders and our partners in ensuring the success of our region. MACOG had the opportunity to present the draft CEDS and survey the Board of Directors. The survey asked them to rank the goals and establish the top priorities.

The second round of engagement was a 30-day public comment period from March 5th to April 4th. During the public comment period, residents had the opportunity to review and share their comments on the draft CEDS. MACOG offered two public open houses; the first was on March 24th at the Greater Elkhart Chamber's office, and the second was on April 2nd at the St. Joseph County Public Library Community Learning Center in the Beutter Kernan Hall. The public was asked to answer the same question as the Board of Directors to indicate the objectives that were most important for the success of our region. The combined results from the survey and the Open Houses had a total participation of 62 unique contributions (54 entries were from the Board of Directors and 8 entries were from residents at the Open Houses) and are summarized on the next two pages. Concluding this Appendix, on page 43 are the comments received during the public comment period.



Survey Results Ranking of the Goals



Goal 1: Thriving & Innovative Economies

Goal 2: World-Class Education & Community Partnerships

Goal 3: High-Quality Hometowns

Goal 4: Access & Connectivity

Identifying the Top Priority Objectives *Goal 1: Thriving & Innovative Economies*





Goal 2: World-Class Education & Community Partnerships

Goal 3: High-Quality Hometowns

٠



41 Appendix A: Community Engagement



Goal 4: Access & Connectivity



2025-2029 • Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy

Public Comments

Date Submitted	Submitted By	Received Comment	MACOG's Response
3/6/2025	Stephanie Overbey, Email	Stephanie served on the Steering Committee and asked, "I'm very surprised by the Jobs to Housing Ratio data (page 34) of the draft. I continue to hear that Kosciusko County does not have enough housing. At the Barn & Business Breakfast meeting we hosted on Tuesday, housing continued to be the number one community need expressed by leaders. What could explain the difference between the data in this report and the perception by employers, elected officials, and residents that we do not have enough housing? This is the information I found confusing (page 34). According to the paragraph about how to interpret the data, a ratio of less than 1.0 indicates a community has more housing than jobs. So, if we are feeling housing pressure here is it because we have a lot of unemployed/retired people who are taking the available housing?"	The housing data collected was from the U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey 5-year Estimates (2019-2023) and is the total occupied housing units. Staff noticed the chart on page 34 was incorrect and should have been what was displayed in Figure 2-9. Staff further clarified the purpose for this chart. Kosciusko County's ratio is 1.17, with the total number of jobs at 37,174 and the total number of occupied housing units at 31,747. To get the ratio, you divide the jobs # by the housing unit #. While planners acknowledge that a common acceptance of a ratio over 1.5 indicates more jobs than housing, really any ratio over 1.0 indicates more jobs than housing, which is the case for all four counties. This should support the perception that there is a need for more housing to help balance this distribution. Why it matters or the purpose is that this isn't going to be perfect, but a more balanced distribution of jobs and housing can support shorter commutes and reduce traffic congestion. Staff also shared a link to our recent Regional Housing Study for additional context, https:// communityscale.github.io/MACOG/index. html.
3/11/2025	Alyson Herzig, Email	Thanks for sending over the draft CEDS plan, a lot of great information and statistics are presented. I also felt the document was easy to read and follow along. Congratulations to the entire MACOG team in developing the updated plan. Alyson served on the Steering Committee and asked for her title to be updated in the Acknowledgment page.	MACOG staff thanked Alyson for her kind words and updated her title.
4/2/2025	Anonymous, Open House	I put my 2 cents in the questions around the room. My feedback is more so about the accessibility of the event: 1. Who is the event tailored toward? 2. Who can get time off of work to come at 3:30 to 5:30? If it is everyday citizens, I don't think the time and layout invites that.	Thank you for your feedback and participation. We understand that in- person open house times may not be suitable for everyone. To ensure we reached a wider audience, we made the plan available online and at local libraries for 30 days, in addition to holding two open houses. During this period, the public was encouraged to review the plan, provide comments, and ask questions in various formats.



2025-2029

Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy



Michiana Area Council of Governments 227 W. Jefferson Blvd. County-City Building, Room 1120 South Bend, IN 46601